STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

May 03 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Georgetown County

Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 09 2019

SC Court of Appeals  
RESPONDENT,

THE STATE,

V.

JODY L. WARD,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case 2018-000402

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TRISTAN M. SHAFFER

Tristan M. Shaffer  
P.O. Box 1027  
Chapin, SC 29036  
(803) 467-2586  
tristan@shafferlawsc.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. When Appellant alleged that Juror 19 failed to disclose her familial relationship to a State's witness during *voir dire*, did the circuit court err in summarily dismissing Appellant's Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Georgetown County Grand Jury for two counts of Murder arising from the shooting deaths of Wilford Brown and Elton Rutledge. On March 15, 2004, Appellant was called to trial before the Honorable Paula Thomas and a jury. ROA 2. Appellant was represented by Margaret Ann Kneece and J. Wesley Locklair. ROA 2. The State was represented by J. Gregory Hembree and Robert Bryan. ROA 2.

At the conclusion of the trial, Appellant was found guilty of both counts of murder. ROA 150. Appellant was sentenced life imprisonment. ROA 159.

Petitioner appealed his conviction. For the Appeal, Appellant was represented by Robert M. Dudek. Appellate counsel filed an *Anders*<sup>1</sup> brief. ROA 160-170. Appellant filed a *pro se Anders* response on September 13, 2005. ROA 234-298. On January 26, 2007, this Court dismissed the direct appeal. ROA 425.

On April 14, 2007, Appellant filed a *pro se* Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the South Carolina Supreme Court. ROA 299-313. Appellant then moved to withdraw the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. ROA 314. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari was dismissed on July 5, 2007. ROA 315. Remittitur was sent on July 6, 2007. ROA 317.

On July 11, 2007, Appellant filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief ROA 171-177. The State filed its return on October 5, 2007. ROA 183-185. An evidentiary hearing was convened on May 1, 2008 before the Honorable Steven John. ROA 186. At the hearing, Appellant was represented by Bobby Frederick and the State was represented by Christina J. Catoe. Appellant's Application for Post-Conviction Relief was dismissed on May 15, 2008. ROA 186.

---

<sup>1</sup> *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967).

Appellant appealed the denial of the Application for Post-Conviction Relief. For this appeal, Appellant was represented by Robert Pachak. ROA 318. The Petition for Writ of Certiorari was denied on August 20, 2009. ROA 330.

On July 13, 2009, Appellant filed a subsequent *pro se* Application for Post-Conviction Relief. ROA 331. This application, for case number 2009-CP-22-1074, for PCR was dismissed on December 30, 2009 by the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson. ROA 341. Appellant appealed the denial of this application for PCR; however, that appeal was dismissed on March 15, 2010. ROA 357. Remittitur was sent on March 31, 2010. ROA 358.

On May 4, 2010, Appellant filed another *pro se* Application for Post-Conviction Relief. ROA 347. On July 10, 2010, this PCR application, 2010-CP-22-733, was dismissed. ROA 355. Appellant appealed the denial of this application for PCR; however, certiorari was denied on August 18, 2011. ROA 357. Remittitur was sent on September 7, 2011. ROA 358.

On October 25, 2011, Appellant filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the original jurisdiction of the South Carolina Supreme Court. ROA 359-384. This Petition was denied on November 16, 2011. ROA 385.

On December 1, 2011, Appellant filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in South Carolina District Court. ROA 202. This action was dismissed on March 20, 2013. ROA 386-424.

On May 16, 2012, Appellant filed a *pro se* Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA 439-450. On July 31, 2012, this motion was denied by the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson. ROA 451-452.

Appellant Filed a *pro se* Notice of Appeal. On September 22, 2014, Natasha Hanna filed a Notice of Appearance on the Appeal for the limited purpose of filing a Motion to Suspend the Appeal and For Leave to File a Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA

453-461. In an Order dated October 8, 2014, this Court denied the Appellants Motion to Suspend Appeal and For Leave to File Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence noting the following:

We Note that pursuant to Rule 205, SCACR, “Nothing in these Rules shall prohibit the lower court...from proceeding with matters not affected by the appeal.”

ROA 462-463. On November 12, 2014, this Court affirmed the ruling on 2012 Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA 464.

On October 30, 2014, Appellant, through his attorney Natasha Hanna, filed a Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA 467-470. On September 11, 2015, the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson filed a Form 4 Order denying Appellant’s Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA 471. On September 22, 2015, Ms. Hanna e-mailed Judge Culbertson, asking for a hearing. Supp. ROA 42-43.

A hearing was scheduled for December 10, 2015 before the Honorable Steven John. ROA 473. At the hearing, Ms. Hanna was relieved. The Court ordered that Appellant be evaluated for competence to represent himself. ROA 490-497.

On September 8, 2017, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss [Appellant’s] Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. ROA 542-544. Appellant, through counsel, submitted a Memorandum in Support of Defendant’s Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence. Supp. ROA 21-68.

A Hearing was convened on October 2, 2017 before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman. ROA 498. Prior to the hearing, Appellant had requested to proceed *pro se*. however, at the hearing Appellant indicated that he wanted an attorney and the Court did not order him to proceed *pro se*. ROA 507, l. 15—511, l. 20.

After the hearing, the Court allowed briefing on the State's motion. Supp. ROA 21-68. Appellant also renewed his motion to allow Mr. Ward to proceed *pro se*.

In an order clocked on December 7, 2017, the circuit court granted the State's Motion to Dismiss and denied the motion to proceed *pro se*. ROA 561. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

- I. When Appellant alleged that Juror 19 failed to disclose her familial relationship a State's witness during *voir dire*, the circuit court erred in summarily dismissing Appellant's Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence.

### **Relevant Facts**

During the Appellant's trial, the State alleged that Appellant shot Wilford Brown and Elton Rutledge in "a drug deal gone bad." ROA 98, l. 22—99, l. 7. The State argued that on August 2, 2002, Defendant borrowed his wife's Suzuki and meet up with Brown and Rutledge. The State alleged that Defendant then killed Brown and Rutledge with a 9mm handgun and buried their bodies. The State also alleged that Appellant dumped the Suzuki in Dawhoo Lake in Georgetown County to destroy evidence of the shooting. ROA 98, l. 22—130, l. 8.

Kevin Cooper was a key witness for the State against Appellant. ROA 83, l. 20—96, l. 27. Mr. Cooper claimed to have seen Appellant with one of the decedents prior to the shooting. ROA 90, ll. 7-15. Mr. Cooper allegedly overheard a conversation were Appellant was mad that he lost money. ROA 90, l. 16—91, l. 3. Mr. Cooper testified that Appellant asked him to go buy 9mm bullets. ROA 91, ll. 3-20. This testimony ultimately would fit into the State's theory that Mr. Ward shot the decedents with a 9mm because they owed him money. ROA 97, l. 22—130, l. 8.

On October 30, 2014, Appellant, through his then attorney Natasha Hanna, filed a motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence alleging the juror misconduct. In the motion, Appellant alleged that Marissa Cooper, Juror 19, failed to disclose a relationship State's witness Kevin Cooper. Supp. ROA 1-20. Juror 19 was asked along with the other jurors, whether she was related by blood or marriage to any of the potential witnesses. ROA 48, l. 1—50, l. 15. At no point did Juror 19 respond to that she was related to Kevin Cooper. ROA 50, l. 15. However,

Appellant submitted an affidavit which supported his position that Juror 19 was related to Kevin Cooper. Supp. ROA 63-64. Appellant alleged Juror 19 intentionally concealed this information. Supp. ROA 3.

On September 8, 2017, the State filed a motion to summarily dismiss, Defendant's motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence. In that motion, the State argued that Appellant's 2014 motion was filed in violation of Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP because Appellant had an appeal pending on a different Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence.<sup>2</sup> The State also argued that "the information cited by [Appellant] was known to [Appellant] and counsel or could have been ascertained by the exercise of reasonable diligence prior to and at the time of trial in 2004..." ROA 543.

On October 2, 2017, hearing was convened before circuit court. The State argued that the relationship between Juror 19 and Mr. Cooper could have been known by Appellant at the time of trial. ROA 519, l. 13—520, l. 19. However, the State also took the position that Juror 19 and Mr. Cooper's relationship was so distant as not to arise to the level of juror misconduct. ROA 520, l. 20—521, l. 8.

In its order granting summary dismissal, the circuit court found the following:

The Claim before the Court must be reviewed under the standard set forth in *State v. Spann*, 334 S.C. 618 (1999)...The Court finds the information cited by the [Appellant] in the current motion, even if true, is not material evidence as to [Appellant's] guilt or innocence and would not change the result if a new trial were granted.

---

<sup>2</sup> This motion was filed while Appellant had an appeal pending from a previous unrelated motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence. Appellate Case 2012-213222 concerns allegations of newly discovered evidence involving allegations that an individual named Michael Abner hired the two decedents to kill Defendant. ROA 427-438. Although Defendant's motion to suspend the appeal was denied by this Court, the order denying the motion to suspend the appeal indicated "Nothing in this order shall prohibit the lower court...from proceeding with matters not affected by this appeal." Since the subject matter of 2014 Motion does not deal with the same matters alleged in Appellate Case 2012-213222, the 2014 Motion was properly filed.

ROA 563. The circuit court also found that Appellant could have ascertained the relationship based on the exercise of reasonable diligence. The circuit granted State's motion to summarily<sup>3</sup> dismiss Appellant's Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence.

### Argument

The Supreme Court has found that juror misconduct is not based on the factors listed in *Spann*<sup>4</sup> but rather "is governed by a separate standard." *McCoy v. State*, 401 S.C. 363, 371, 737 S.E.2d 623, 627, (2013). "[A] new trial is warranted on the basis of juror misconduct if it is shown that (1) the juror intentionally concealed information; and (2) the information concealed would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in the use of the party's peremptory challenges." *Id.* "[E]valuating the merits of a juror misconduct claim is a fact-intensive inquiry, which is most appropriately conducted after a hearing." *Id.*, 401 S.C. at 371, 737 S.E.2d at 628.

The circuit court applied the wrong standard in assessing whether to summarily dismiss Appellant's 2014 motion for a new trial. In its order of dismiss the circuit court found the following:

Had a juror misconduct claim been captioned as yet another PCR application, the Supreme Court's more recent holding in *McCoy v. State*, 401 S.C. 363 (2013) may have applied and an evidentiary hearing on the claim applying the analysis set forth in *State v. Woods*, 345 S.C. 583 (2001) possible. However, that is of no import in the present matter.

ROA 562-563. However, *Woods* was properly brought in a motion for a new trial. *State v. Woods*, 345 S.C. 583, 550 S.E.2d 282 (2001). Additionally, there are other cases where this issue was raised in a motion for a new trial. *See e.g. State v. Savage*, 306 S.C. 5, 409 S.E.2d 809 (1991); *State v.*

---

<sup>3</sup> Although in the order the circuit court writes "[A]s to the merits of the [Appellant's] motion..." Appellant was not allowed to call witnesses to address the merits of his motion. R\*(Tr. 14, l. 21—15, l. 8). Therefore, this matter was summarily dismissed.

*Sparkman*, 358 S.C. 491, 596 S.E.2d 375 (2004).

Moreover, the circuit court erred in summarily ruling that even if Juror 19 was related to Kevin Cooper it “would not change the result if a new trial were granted.” ROA 563. To the extent a harmless error analysis is proper in a case of juror misconduct, the harmless error analysis should only be made after a hearing. *See Remmer v. United States*, 347 U.S. 227, 230, 74 S.Ct. 450, 451-452 (1954) (“We therefore vacate the judgment of the Court of Appeals and remand the case to the District Court with directions to hold a hearing to determine whether the incident complained of was harmful to the petitioner, and if after hearing it is found to have been harmful, to grant a new trial.”) Therefore, the circuit court erred by holding that Appellant was not entitled to a hearing on his motion because he had not filed it as a PCR action.

Additionally, the Court notes that Appellant could have discovered this relationship through “reasonable diligence.” The standard of reasonable diligence requires a person to act after they are put on notice that they should act. *See Maher v. Tietex Corp.*, 331 S.C. 371, 377, 500 S.E.2d 204, 207 (Ct. App. 1998) (“A cause of action should have been discovered through exercise of reasonable diligence when the facts and circumstances would have put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right had been invaded or a claim against another party might exist.”). A juror and a witness both having the common last name “Cooper” is not sufficient to put Appellant on notice that the two were related. To require defendants and defense counsel to do genealogical research on prospective jurors is not reasonable.

Therefore, the circuit court erred in summarily dismissing Appellant’s motion for a new trial and this matter should be remanded for an evidentiary hearing.