**ORIGINAL**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

**Appeal from Georgetown County  
Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**JODY L. WARD,**

**Appellant**

**Appellate Case No. 2018-000402.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**RECEIVED**

NOV 19 2019

SC Court of Appeals

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE SCRANTOM  
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211  
(803) 734-6305

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

##

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

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondent would ask this Court to take judicial notice of the various state court proceedings and thereby obviate the necessity for a voluminous Record on Appeal. "A court can take judicial notice of its own records, files[,] and proceedings for all proper purposes including facts established in its records. It is not error for a judge to take judicial notice of what was stated in [a] former opinion in [a] prior action of the same case." *Wise v. Wise*, 394 S.C. 591, 600, 716 S.E.2d 117, 122 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting *Freeman v. McBee*, 280 S.C. 490, 313 S.E.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1984)); *Griffin v. Van Norman*, 302 S.C. 520, 525, 397 S.E.2d 378, 381 (Ct. App. 1990).

Assistant Appellate Defender Robert M. Dudek filed a Final *Anders* Brief of Appellant<sup>2</sup> on Ward's behalf and petitioned to be relieved as counsel. The Final *Anders* Brief set forth one issue for review:

Whether the court erred by refusing to suppress appellant's statement where law enforcement knew appellant was attempting contact his attorney prior to his meeting with Assistant Sheriff Weaver, and where Weaver was aware appellant had invoked his right to counsel upon his arrest, since appellant should not have been deemed to have waived his right to counsel under these circumstances?

Ward filed a Final Brief of Appellant (*pro se*) that the State received on October 12, 2005, in which he presented eight additional claims. He thereafter supplemented this response with two additional claims.<sup>3</sup> On January 26, 2007, this Court dismissed Ward's appeal and

---

<sup>2</sup> *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967).

<sup>3</sup> Initially, he presented the following issues:

Issue One: THE GRAND JURY DID NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO ISSUE AN INDICTMENT WHEN THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO MEET ALL THE ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME CHARGED IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, § 3.

Issue Two: APPELLANT WAS INDICTED UPON AN ILLEGAL AND INSUFFICIENT PROCESS OF THE GRAND JURY IN VIOLATION OF S.C. CONST. Art. I, § 11, and Art. V, § 22 WHEN THE FOREMAN, SCOTT MCKENZIE WAS DIRECTLY INVOLVED AT THE CRIME SCENE AND HAVING PRIOR BIAS KNOWLEDGE OF THE EVENTS PRIOR TO SERVICE ON GRAND JURY; TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PRESENT THIS ISSUE AT TRIAL PRIOR TO THE VERDICT BY THE JURY IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE U. S. CONSTITUTION AND VIOLATION OF SC. CONST. ART. I, § 3.

Issue Three: THE INDICTMENT IN APPELLANT'S CASE WAS FLAWED WHERE MISINFORMATION STATED THAT THE DECEASED DIED DUE TO GUN SHOT WHEN AT TRIAL TESTIMONY STATED OTHERWISE IN THIS "NO BODY CASE." TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT SEEKING TO QUASH INDICTMENT AND/OR MAKE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL; THE GRAND JURY IN INCLUDING SAME ON INDICTMENT MISREPRESENTED THE EVIDENCE AND ESTABLISHED IN THE MINDS

---

OF THE TRIAL JURY THAT DECEASE[D'S] DEATH WAS DUE TO GUN SHOT IN WHICH WAS NOT EVIDENCED AT TRIAL AND INDICTMENT WAS THEREFORE FLAWED. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT PURSUING THESE ISSUES; INDICTMENT WAS ISSUED IN VIOLATION OF S.C. CONST. AND THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION THE 5TH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS AND S.C. CONST. ART. I, § 3.

Issue Four: PETITIONER'S RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED UNDER ARTICLE I, § 3 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION, [AND] THE FOURTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION WHEN APPELLANT WAS ARRESTED WITHOUT A (PROBABLE CAUSE) WARRANT WHILE NOT IN [THE] COMMISSION OF A CRIME, HELD FOR SEVENTY-TWO HOURS, RELEASED AND AGAIN ARRESTED THEREAFTER BY WARRANTS THAT DID NOT HAVE SUFFICIENT PROBABLE CAUSE FOR AN ARREST WHEN SUBSTANTIAL BASES FOR PROBABLE EXISTED WHEN THE MAGISTRATE WAS GIVEN NO INFORMATION REGARDING THE RELIABILITY OF THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMER, THE [SUFFICIENCY] REQUIRED TO ISSUE WARRANT DID NOT PROVIDE ACTUAL CAUSE FOR AN ARREST.

Issue Five: THE SOLICITOR'S HIGHLY INFLAMMATORY AND PREJUDICIAL REMARKS IN OPENING AND CLOSING STATEMENTS, BOLSTERING AND VOUCHING FOR STATE WITNESSES, ACTING AS WITNESS BEFORE THE JURY, TESTIFYING AS IF STATEMENTS MADE WHERE FACTUAL, AND THE FAILURE OF TRIAL COUNSEL TO OBJECT VIOLATING APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL, INFECTED THE JURY PRIOR TO EVIDENCE, AND DENIED APPELLANT DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION[] OF THE LAWS IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTEENTH AND SIXTH AMENDMENT[S] OF U.S. CONSTITUTION AND ART. [I], § 3, ART. IV, § VI OF THE S.C. CONSTITUTION.

Issue Six: DID THE TRIAL COURT LACK SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION TO ENTER A CONVICTION OR IMPOSE SENTENCE UPON INDICTMENT 03-GS-22-1031 DUE TO THE FATAL VARIANCE BETWEEN THE PROOF AT TRIAL AND THE ALLEGATIONS WITHIN THE FACE OF THE INDICTMENT?

Issue Seven: TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE COUNSEL WHEN FAILING TO MAKE CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTIONS IN A TIMELY MANNER IN ORDER TO PRESERVE FOR APPEAL PURPOSES VIOLATING APPELLANT'S RIGHTS OF DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTIONS OF THE LAWS UNDER S.C. CONST. ART. I, § 3 AND ART. I, § 4 AND THE 6TH AND 14TH AMENDMENTS OF THE U.S.

granted counsel's petition to be relieved in an unpublished Opinion. *State v. Jody Lynn Ward*, 2007-UP-048 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 26, 2007).

Ward filed a Petition for Rehearing (*pro se*), dated February 1, 2007. At the Court's direction, the State made a Return to *Pro Se* Petition for Rehearing on February 15, 2007. This Court denied rehearing on March 22, 2007.

Ward then filed a *pro se* Petition for Writ of Certiorari which the State received on April 30, 2007. It raised four allegations. On May 14, 2007, the State filed a Return to *Pro Se* Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, Ward voluntarily withdrew his Petition in a June 29, 2007 letter to counsel, Mr. Dudek. Counsel forwarded this letter and, on July 5, 2007, the South Carolina Supreme Court granted his request to dismiss the appeal. This Court sent the Remittitur to the Georgetown County Clerk of Court on July 6, 2007, thus ending Ward's direct appeal of his convictions and sentence.

---

#### CONSTITUTIONS.

Issue Eight: THE COURT ERRED IN CHARGING THE JURY WITH HANDS OF ONE HANDS OF ALL WHERE THE APPELLANT WAS INDICTED AS A PRINCIPLE ONLY AND THE CHARGE OF HANDS OF ONE HANDS OF ALL WAS INSUFFICIENT, VAGUE, MISLEADING, CONFUSING AND ALONG WITH PRINCIPLE CHARGE DEPRIVED THE APPELLANT OF A FAIR TRIAL AND DUE PROCESS; COUNSEL WAS ALSO INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO OBJECT TO THIS CHARGE AND REQUEST A MORE SPECIFIC CHARGE.

Ward then filed a Supplement to his Final Brief of Appellant (*pro se*), which the State received on October 12, 2005, raising two additional claims:

Issue A: Did the trial Court lack subject matter jurisdiction upon the indictments due to procedural flaw in the warrants in this case?

Issue B: Did the trial Court lack subject matter jurisdiction due to invalid warrants and arrest?

**B. Post-conviction proceedings.**

Ward filed his first *pro se* Post-Conviction Relief (PCR) Application on July 11, 2007. *Ward v. State*, Georgetown Cnty. Ct. of Common Pleas, Case No. 2007-CP-22-00915 (filed July 11, 2007). He later supplemented the claims in his Application. The Honorable Stephen H. John held an evidentiary hearing into the matter on at the Horry County Courthouse on May 1, 2008. On May 15, 2008, Judge John signed an Order of Dismissal, in which he denied relief and dismissed the Application with prejudice. The Order of Dismissal addressed Ward's claims that trial counsel was ineffective because they (1) failed to object to the Solicitor's comments regarding Ward's "lack of remorse;" (2) failed to object to the Solicitor's vouching for the State's witnesses; (3) failed to object to the Solicitor's comments on the Ward's credibility and the defense's theory; and (4) failed to request jury instructions on voluntary and involuntary manslaughter. Ward filed a Motion to Amend or Alter the Judgment on May 20, 2008. Judge John thereafter filed an "Order Denying Applicant's Motion To Alter Or Amend In Part And Clarifying Order Of Dismissal."

Ward then timely served and filed a notice of appeal. Assistant Appellate Defender Robert M. Pachak represented him in collateral appellate proceedings. On December 30, 2008, Ward filed a petition for writ of certiorari.<sup>4</sup> The State filed a Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari on February 13, 2009. The South Carolina Supreme Court filed an Order denying

---

<sup>4</sup> The two issues presented in the petition were:

1. Whether defense counsel were ineffective in failing to object to numerous errors in the solicitor's closing arguments such as to render petitioner's trial unfair?
2. Whether defense counsel[] were ineffective in failing to request or put on the record requests to charge on the lesser included offenses of voluntary and involuntary manslaughter?

certiorari on August 20, 2009, and it sent the Remittitur to the Georgetown County Clerk of Court on September 8, 2009.

Ward filed a **second** *pro-se* Post-Conviction Relief (PCR) Application on July 13, 2009. *Ward v. State*, Georgetown Cnty. Ct. of Common Pleas, Case No. 2009-CP-22-915 (filed July 13, 2009). Here, Ward claimed that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because counsel failed to convey a plea offer to him. He asserted that this claim was a “new rule of law” under S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(B) & (C) (2009), and the decision in *Davie v. State*, 381 S.C. 601, 675 S.E.2d 416 (2009). The State thereafter filed a Return and Motion to Dismiss, in which it argued for summary dismissal because the 2009 Application was barred by the statute of limitations and because it was successive to the 2007 Application.

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, resident judge to the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, ultimately filed a January 13, 2010 Final Order of Dismissal, in which he summarily dismissed the 2009 Application because (1) *Davie v. State* did not apply to the facts of the Ward’s case; (2) the 2009 Application was a successive application; and (3) the 2009 Application was barred by the statute of limitations. Ward timely served a notice of appeal.

The Honorable Daniel E. Shearouse, Clerk of Court for the South Carolina Supreme Court, sent Ward a letter On February 23, 2010, informing Ward that he had to comply with the requirements of Rule 243(c), SCACR. Ward made a response in a March 2, 2010 document styled “Petition for Writ of Certiorari.” The South Carolina Supreme Court dismissed the appeal. It found that Ward “failed to show that there is an arguable basis for asserting that the determination by the lower court was improper,” as required by Rule 243(c). *Ward v. State*, Order of Dismissal (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Mar. 15, 2010) (Trial Court Case No. 2009-CP-22-01074). The Court sent the Remittitur to the Georgetown County Clerk of Court on April 1,

2010.

Undaunted, Ward filed a **third** PCR Application on May 4, 2010. *Ward v. State*, Georgetown Cnty. Ct. of Common Pleas, Case No. 2010-CP-22-00733 (filed May 4, 2010). He claimed that “[t]he jury instructions in my case are unconstitutional under Belcher’s opinion.” Again, he maintained that this was “a new rule of law” and, therefore, the statute of limitations and the successiveness bar did not bar his filing. The State made a Return on June 1, 2010, arguing that the 2010 Application should be summarily dismissed because *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009) did not apply to Ward’s case because the South Carolina Supreme Court indicated that *Belcher* “will not apply to convictions challenged on post-conviction relief” *Id.* at 613, 685 S.E.2d at 810.

Ultimately, Judge Culbertson filed another Final Order of Dismissal on July 29, 2010, and Ward signed a receipt for this Order on August 14, 2010. The Order dismissed the 2010 Application based upon Judge Culbertson’s finding that *Belcher* did not apply because Ward’s case was on collateral review.

Ward timely served and filed a notice of appeal, which was accompanied by a petition for writ of certiorari dated July 20, 2010.<sup>5</sup> The State filed a return to petition for writ of certiorari on August 17, 2010. On August 18, 2011, the South Carolina Supreme Court filed an order denying certiorari. It sent the remittitur to the Georgetown County Clerk of Court on September 7, 2011.

---

<sup>5</sup> That petition raised the following issue:

Did the circuit court err in holding that Petitioner was not entitled to the benefit of *Francis v. Franklin*, 471 U.S. 307, 105 S.Ct. 1965 (1985) and *Sandstrom v. Montana*, 442 U.S. 510, 99 S.Ct. 2450 (1979), on collateral review to invalidate his conviction due to improper Burden-shifting instruction at his trial on malice charge?

**C: Habeas corpus proceedings.**

Despite having each of his three previous PCR Applications denied, Ward made a fourth attempt at collateral relief in State court when he filed a **Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the original jurisdiction of the South Carolina Supreme Court**. That court received the petition on October 31, 2011.<sup>6</sup> The South Carolina Supreme Court denied his Petition on November 16, 2011, based upon Ward's failure to meet the standard for state habeas corpus relief: "Because petitioner has not shown that there has been a violation which, in the setting, constitutes a denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice," the petition is denied. *Simpson v. State*, 329 S.C. 43, 495 S.E.2d 429 (1998).<sup>7</sup>

Petitioner's **fifth** collateral action initiated when he sought a federal writ of habeas corpus. On December 1, 2011, Ward raised seven allegations in a **Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina**.<sup>7</sup> *Ward v.*

---

<sup>6</sup> He raised three issues therein:

ISSUE I: Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the Solicitor's improper closing summation which impermissibly lessened the jury's sense of impartiality that denied Petitioner his right to a fair and impartial jury and his right to a fair trial?

ISSUE II: Was trial counsel ineffective for improperly telling the jury if any mistakes are made a "higher court" will take care of the error and thus counsel's improper statements tipped the scales in favor of the State, and the statements ultimately denied Petitioner his right to a fair trial?

ISSUE III: Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's burden shifting jury instructions, in violation of the Due Process Clause?

<sup>7</sup> Here are his federal habeas claims:

GROUND ONE: The trial court and subsequent reviewing court's erred in ruling Petitioner waived his right to counsel when Weaver interrogated Petitioner, after law enforcement knew Petitioner was attempting to contact his attorney prior to petitioner meeting with the Assistant Sheriff Weaver. Law enforcement also

*Warden of Leiber Corr. Inst.*, C/A No. 0:11-3277-RBH-PJG.

Respondent filed a Return and Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment and a Motion for Summary Judgment on May 11, 2012. *Id.* at ECF No. 22. Ward subsequently filed a response in opposition to Respondent's motion. However, United States Magistrate Judge Paige J. Gossett filed a Report and Recommendation on February 15, 2013, recommending that Respondent's motion for summary judgment be granted. *Id.* at ECF No. 70.

Although Ward filed objections to the Report and Recommendation, the Honorable R.

---

was aware that petitioner had invoked his right to counsel upon his arrest and therefore under the facts of the case the statement should have been suppressed.

GROUND TWO: The state courts erred in failing to find defense counsel's ineffective in failing to object to numerous errors in the solicitor's closing argument that such argument rendered petitioner's trial as being unfair and a denial of due process.

GROUND THREE: The PCR court and subsequent reviewing court's erred in failing to find counsels rendered ineffective assistance of counsel, when counsel(s) failed to convey plea offers to petitioner prior to trial.

GROUND FOUR: The State PCR court and subsequent reviewing courts erred in failing to find petitioner's jury instructions were unconstitutional under *State v. Belcher*.

GROUND FIVE: The State Supreme Court erred in failing to find counsel ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's improper closing that denied petitioner his right to a fair trial.

GROUND SIX: The State Supreme Court erred in failing to find counsel rendered ineffective assistance when counsel improperly told the jury if any mistakes are made a "higher court" will take care of the error and thus counsel's improper argument tipped the scales in favor of the State and lessened the State burden of proof.

GROUND SEVEN: The State Supreme Court erred in failing to find counsel ineffective for failing to object to the unconstitutional burden shifting jury instructions given during trial. This decision was unreasonable and contrary to clearly established federal law.

Bryan Harwell, United States District Judge, filed an Order granting Respondent's summary judgment motion on March 20, 2013. *Id.* at ECF No. 73. Judgment was entered that same day. *Id.* at ECF No. 74.

Ward filed a timely notice of appeal to the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals. He filed an Informal Opening Brief on May 14, 2013 and a Supplemental Informal Opening Brief on May 20, 2013. The Fourth Circuit dismissed in an unpublished per curiam opinion filed August 13, 2013. *Ward v. Warden of Leiber Corr. Inst.*, 538 Fed.Appx. 257 (4th Cir. 2013) (App. Case No. 13-6518, Doc. 15). Ward petitioned for rehearing *en banc*, which the Fourth Circuit denied on September 27, 2013. *Id.* at Doc. 19. The Fourth Circuit issued its mandate and entered its judgment finally dismissing the appeal on October 7, 2013. *Id.* at Doc. 20. Ward also petitioned the United States Supreme Court for certiorari and was denied. *Ward v. McCabe*, 572 U.S. 1019, 134 S. Ct. 1543 (2014).

**D. Initial Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP action (Appellate Case No. 2012-213222).**

Prior to the issuance of the Report and Recommendation by the United States Magistrate Judge, Petitioner initiated a **sixth** pursuit of collateral relief, this time back in the South Carolina Circuit Court. Pursuant to Rule 29, SCRCrimP, Ward filed a Motion for a New Trial Based on After Discovered Evidence in the Georgetown County Court of General Sessions, on May 16, 2012. The filings in this action were pinned to the General Sessions case numbers pertaining to Ward's criminal convictions for murder: 2003-GS-22-01030 and -01031. Eventually this case was assigned Appellate Case No. 2012-213222 by this Court.

Ward argued that he was entitled to a new trial based upon a purported letter from Michael Andrew Abner to Ward's mother, in which Abner supposedly claimed to have hired the victims in this case to kill Ward. This was a novel proposition compared to the remainder of

Ward's prior proceedings. Without hearing argument or requiring a response by the State, the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Administrative Judge for the Court of General Sessions of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, filed an "Order Denying Motion for New Trial, Motion for Appointment of Counsel and Motion for Expenses," on July 31, 2012. In denying the new trial motion, Judge Culbertson found that "the letter [from Abner] referenced by [Ward] in his motion and attached as an exhibit thereto makes no such admission and [Ward] has not presented anything to corroborate such an admission." Judge Culbertson further found that "[Ward] has not only failed to establish that he has new evidence that will probably change the result of his convictions if a new trial is granted, he has failed to show even the existence of newly discovered evidence. Therefore, [Ward's] motion for a new trial should be denied." Finally, Judge Culbertson found that Ward's remaining motions for the appointment of counsel and for funding were moot because he had denied the new trial motion. Judge Culbertson also denied Ward's subsequent motion for reconsideration and motion for arrest of judgment on August 20 and September 25, 2012, respectively. These denials were based on the contents of Ward's motions and were issued without a hearing or response by the State. (R. pp. 439-52).

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